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The Honorable Ken Schubert 
Hearing Date: November 10, 2022 at 3:00 p.m. 

With Oral Argument 
 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 
KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT 

 
STATE OF WASHINGTON, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
 v. 
 
ALBERTSONS COMPANIES, INC.; 
ALBERTSON S COMPANIES 
SPECIALTY CARE, LLC; 
ALBERTSON’S LLC; 
ALBERTSON’S STORES SUB LLC; 
THE KROGER CO.; 
KETTLE MERGER SUB, INC., 
 
 Defendants. 

NO. 22-2-18046-3 SEA 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON’S REPLY 
IN SUPPORT OF ITS MOTION FOR 
PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 
 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 

This case is about protecting competition in one of the most critical markets for 

consumers in Washington: the neighborhood supermarket. Albertsons and Kroger have agreed 

to merge and, as a part of that agreement, Albertsons will issue a $4 billion dividend to its 

stockholders. This dividend is the first step in the well-worn playbook for supermarket mergers: 

it will cripple Albertsons and allow it to spin off weakened stores only to reacquire them once 

its merger is complete. The $4 billion dividend presents a blatant harm to competition and a clear 

violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act. The State brought its motion for a 
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preliminary injunction to enjoin the dividend because it constitutes (1) an unreasonable restraint 

of trade in violation of RCW 19.86.030; and (2) an unfair method of competition in violation of 

RCW 19.86.020.  

Defendants claim they did not agree that Albertsons would pay the $4 billion dividend, 

but their press releases and public filings contradict them. Even if the Court finds there was no 

agreement, the State still succeeds on its unfair methods of competition claim. Defendants cannot 

show that issuance of a dividend that is 57 times more than usual, drains 75% of available cash, 

and saddles the company with an additional $1.5 billion in debt is a legitimate business concern 

that outweighs the public interest in competitive grocery markets.   

Albertsons’ securities filings and market reports support the State’s concern that 

Albertsons has limited liquidity, and undermine assertions that Albertsons has enough cash. 

However, additional discovery would allow the State to provide more targeted expert analysis. 

At a preliminary injunction hearing, the Court does not reach the merits, and the plaintiff need 

only show likelihood of success on the merits. Review of the merger agreement and related 

public documents show that Commissioner Judson’s decision to enter the Temporary 

Restraining Order was well-founded and that the Court should now enter a preliminary 

injunction. 

II. ARGUMENT 

A. Public Documents Confirm Defendants’ Agreement, but the State Succeeds Even 
Without an Agreement.  

 Defendants’ claim that they did not agree to pay the $4 billion dividend is not credible. 

It strains credulity to argue that the merger and dividend were not related when Defendants 

jointly announced the dividend “as part of the transaction” the day after they signed the merger 

agreement. Defendants’ joint press release states, “As part of the transaction, Albertsons Cos. 

will pay a special cash dividend of up to $4 billion to its shareholders.” Hanson Ex. C 

(WA000233). The same day, in Albertsons’ 8-K, Albertsons’ Executive Vice President, 
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General Counsel and Secretary represented that she signed it on behalf of Albertsons pursuant 

to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Id. Ex. C (WA000214). Item 8.01 

of this 8-K incorporates the October 14th joint press release by reference. Id. Ex. C (WA000213).  

 Importantly, the State’s unfair methods of competition claim succeeds even if there was 

no agreement. “[A] violation of RCW 19.86.020 does not require a finding of conspiracy.” State 

v. Black, 100 Wn.2d 793, 800 (1984). Instead, “unilateral conduct which is unfair and 

anticompetitive may constitute a violation of RCW 19.86.020.” Id. Defendants largely ignore 

this claim. Kroger says Albertsons’ unilateral decision to pay the dividend does not violate 

RCW 19.86.020 because it is “motivated by legitimate business concerns.” Dkt. 83 at 21 

(quoting Black, 100 Wn.2d at 803); see also Dkt. 84 at 20. These assertions assume that (1) their 

business practices are legitimate and reasonable and (2) the practices do not injure the public. 

But the State demonstrated that this dividend is likely not a legitimate or reasonable business 

practice. The $4 billion dividend is 57 times more than Albertsons’ last dividend and will leave 

Albertsons strapped for cash. Hanson Ex. V (WA000508). Albertsons’ October 18th 10-Q shows 

that the dividend drains about 75% of available cash. Hanson Ex. D (WA000245). It also saddles 

Albertsons with an additional $1.5 billion in debt. Dkt. 72 at 9. In contrast, Albertsons’ President 

and CFO Sharon McCollam concedes that Albertsons will only have $500 million in cash for 

existing operations. Dkt. 41 at 13. Operating on a shoestring cash flow is not a reasonable 

business practice. And the State demonstrated that the dividend will harm its statutory right and 

constitutional mandate to conduct an antitrust investigation of the merger, as well as harm 

Washington supermarket consumers, employees, and neighborhoods. “[O]ur Legislature 

recognized that a court must weigh the public interest in prohibiting anticompetitive conduct 

against the recognition that businesses need some latitude within which to conduct their trade.” 

Black, 100 Wn.2d at 803. Here, the public interest in prohibiting anticompetitive conduct in the 

supermarkets outweighs Defendants’ claimed “legitimate business concerns.”  
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While Defendants claim the injunction exposes Albertsons to shareholder liability in 

Delaware, Dkt. 83 at 1-2; Dkt. 84 at 4, this Court need not speculate about that because the focus 

of the Court’s inquiry is on harm to the party seeking the injunction. See, e.g., RCW 7.40.020 

(discussing grounds for issuance of an injunction involving “injury to the plaintiff”). Besides, 

such litigation is unlikely to succeed because an illegal agreement is likely void under Delaware 

law. See PHL Variable Ins. Co. v. Price Dawe 2006 Ins. Tr., ex rel. Christiana Bank & Tr. Co., 

28 A.3d 1059, 1067 (Del. 2011) (“[C]ontracts that offend public policy or harm the public are 

deemed void[.]”). 

B. Public Documents Support the State’s Economist’s Declaration, but Additional 
Discovery Would Alleviate Any Concerns That He Has Not Fully Reviewed 
Albertsons’ Financial Condition.  

Public documents validate the State’s concerns about Albertsons’ cash flow and line of 

credit, and do not support Defendants’ arguments. McCollum indicates that Albertsons has a 

$2.5 billion line of credit available through its asset-based lending facility. Dkt. 41 at 13. 

However, this is already $1.26 billion less than the amount of credit referenced in Albertsons’ 

most recent 10-Q, which was $3.76 billion. Hanson Ex. V (WA000509). This raises questions 

whether Albertsons’ asset-based lending facility will remain a viable line of credit. And 

McCollam’s declaration further indicates that Albertsons has $500 million cash on hand. 

Dkt. 41 (13). However, this is already $400 million less than referenced in Albertsons’ 

October 18th 10-Q. Dkt. 72 (9). This change reinforces Professor Weisbach’s opinion 

questioning whether Albertsons will have an adequate line of credit and cash on hand after the 

dividend. Weisbach Supp. Decl. at 2. 

 Albertsons once again contradicts its own financial filings—signed and certified by 

McCollam—when it discusses cash flows. The 10-Q states the financial statements in the report 

“fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows 

of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report.” Ex. A (WA000137). It also 
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states, “There can be no assurance, however, that our business will continue to generate cash 

flow at or above current levels or that we will maintain our ability to borrow under our 

ABL facility.” Hanson Ex. V (WA000509). But now McCollam characterizes this statement as 

a “disclaimer . . . prudent for securities law purposes, but it does not mean that we perceive (or 

should perceive) a significant risk that our cash flows will decline so dramatically that we would 

not be able to continue to fund our three-year plan.” Dkt. 41 at 19-20. So her signature and 

certification are inconsistent with her declaration. The Court should not allow Defendants to 

disavow statements made in certified filings merely because those statements are detrimental to 

their current positions in this litigation.  

Defendants attempt to create a catch-22 by complaining that the State’s expert only 

speaks to general economic principles, see Dkt. 84 at 23, while also refusing to produce 

documents and leave time for further discovery. The State issued civil investigative demands to 

both parties, but Defendants refused to produce responsive documents without confidentiality 

assurances beyond those provided in RCW 19.86.110. Dkt. 71 at 11 n.7. Once Professor 

Weisbach has received those documents, he will promptly produce additional analysis with 

reference to Defendants’ specific financial situations, alleviating any concerns that the State’s 

economic analysis is insufficiently focused on Albertsons. Weisbach Suppl. Decl. at 1. Under 

such circumstances, failure to grant a preliminary injunction is reversible error. Nw. Gas Ass’n 

v. Washington Utilities & Transp. Comm’n, 141 Wn. App. 98, 114–15 (2007) (court erred by 

transforming the preliminary injunction hearing into a permanent injunction trial without giving 

parties a full opportunity to present evidence at a trial on the merits). 

C. The State Need Not Discuss Relevant Markets, and a Preliminary Injunction 
Hearing Does not Reach the Merits. 

 Finally, contrary to Kroger’s arguments, the State need not engage in full rule of reason 

or quick look antitrust analysis at this stage of litigation. Dkt. 83 at 3, 17. Courts have found that 

unambiguous evidence of the terms of an agreement between competitors is direct evidence of a 
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conspiracy. See, e.g., In re WellbutrinXL Antitrust Litig., 133 F. Supp. 3d 734, 770 (E.D. PA. 

2015). Moreover, the Supreme Court emphasized that “whether the ultimate finding is the 

product of a presumption or actual market analysis, the essential inquiry remains the  

same—whether or not the challenged restraint enhances competition.” Cal. Dental Ass’n v. FTC, 

526 U.S. 756, 779–80 (1999). The context of the issuance of the dividend and the merger 

announcement, including public and internal documents, suffice for the Court to draw an 

inference of an anticompetitive agreement. But even if the Court were to find the State must use 

the rule of reason, “[a]t a preliminary injunction hearing, the plaintiff need not prove and the trial 

court does not reach or resolve the merits of the issues underlying [the] three requirements for 

injunctive relief.” Nw. Gas Ass’n, 141 Wn. App. at 116. Instead, “the trial court considers only 

the likelihood that the plaintiff will ultimately prevail at a trial on the merits.” Id. The State has 

more than made that showing in the limited time since Defendants announced the dividend and 

with limited available documents.  

III. CONCLUSION 

 Significant harm will come to Washington consumers, employees, and neighborhoods if 

the Court allows Albertsons to drain its cash before antitrust enforcers have a chance to evaluate 

the merger. Granting the preliminary injunction preserves the status quo, and encourages 

Defendants to work cooperatively with enforcers to facilitate required merger review—including 

the $4 billion dividend that Defendants agreed Albertsons would pay its shareholders as part of 

the transaction. 

 DATED this 10th day of November 2022. 
 

ROBERT W. FERGUSON 
Attorney General 
 
 
s/ Christina M. Black     
JONATHAN A. MARK, WSBA. No. 38051 
AMY N.L. HANSON, WSBA No. 28589 
HOLLY A. WILLIAMS, WSBA No. 41187 
RACHEL A. LUMEN, WSBA No. 47918 
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BROOKE HOWLETT LOVROVICH,  
WSBA No. 47899 
DALVIN K. YARBROUGH, WSBA No. 56769 
Assistant Attorneys General 
Antitrust Division 
jonathan.mark@atg.wa.gov 
amy.hanson@atg.wa.gov 
holly.williams@atg.wa.gov 
rachel.lumen@atg.wa.gov 
valerie.balch@atg.wa.gov 
miriam.stiefel@atg.wa.gov 
lumi.nodit@atg.wa.gov 
christina.black@atg.wa.gov 
brooke.lovrovich@atg.wa.gov 
dalvin.yarbrough@atg.wa.gov 
 
ERIC S. NEWMAN, WSBA No. 31521 
Litigation Section Chief 
Consumer Protection Division 
eric.newman@atg.wa.gov 
 
PAUL M. CRISALLI, WSBA No. 40681 
SUSAN E. LLORENS, WSBA No. 38049 
Assistant Attorneys General 
Complex Litigation Division 
paul.crisalli@atg.wa.gov 
susan.llorens@atg.wa.gov 
 
State of Washington Attorney General’s Office 
800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 
Seattle, WA  98104-3188 
(206) 464-7744 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff State of Washington 
 
I certify that this memorandum contains 1,731 
words, in compliance with the Local Civil Rules. 
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DECLARATION OF SERVICE 

 I declare that I caused the foregoing document to be electronically served through the 

Court’s Electronic Filing System on all counsel of record in this action. 

DATED this 10th day of November 2022 in Seattle, Washington. 
 

s/ Christina M. Black 
CHRISTINA M. BLACK, WSBA No. 58032 
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DECLARATION OF SERVICE 

 I declare that I caused the foregoing document to be electronically served through the 

Court’s Electronic Filing System on all counsel of record in this action. 

DATED this 10th day of November 2022 in Seattle, Washington. 
 

s/ Christina M. Black 
CHRISTINA M. BLACK, WSBA No. 58032 
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Footnotes

1 The Supreme Court illustrated its understanding of reverse payment settlements as follows:

Company A sues Company B for patent infringement. The two companies settle under terms that require
(1) Company B, the claimed infringer, not to produce the patented product until the patent's term expires,
and (2) Company A, the patentee, to pay B many millions of dollars. Because the settlement requires the
patentee to pay the alleged infringer, rather than the other way around, this kind of settlement agreement
is often called a “reverse payment” settlement agreement.

Actavis, 133 S.Ct. at 2227.

2 All facts herein are taken in the light most favorable to the plaintiffs. The plaintiffs, however, rely on a great
deal of speculation in their recitation of the relevant facts; the Court will not consider the plaintiffs' speculation
in deciding these motions. Summary judgment cannot be avoided by relying on speculation, and “inference
based on speculation... does not create a material factual dispute.” Robertson v. Allied Sig., Inc., 914 F.2d
360, 383 (3d Cir.1990).

3 The volume is officially known as the Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalents Evaluations.

4 On May 11, 2012, the Court found that the patent infringement actions brought by Biovail and GSK were not
sham lawsuits and could not be the basis for antitrust liability. Wellbutrin XL, 2012 WL 1657734 at *17.

5 The Honorable James V. Selna presided over the Anchen litigation. GSK Stmt. ¶¶ 43, 44; Pls.' Stmt. Resp.
¶¶ 43, 44.

6 As the Court explained in detail in its decision granting summary judgment on the plaintiffs' sham litigation
claims, FDA regulations require ANDA applicants to list all components used in the manufacture of the drug
product, regardless of whether they appear in the drug product, as well as a statement of the composition
of the drug product. 21 C.F.R. § 314.50. ANDA applicants must also “identify and characterize the inactive
ingredients in the proposed drug product.” Id. § 314.94(a)(9) (ii). In 2003, the FDA issued a “Guidance for
Industry” that states:

The function (i.e., role) of each component in the formulation should be stated. Components that are used
in the manufacture of the drug product and do not appear in the finished drug product except at residual
levels (e.g., some solvents) should be identified as processing agents.

The target amount of each component by definite weight or other measure should be provided on a per
unit basis.

2003 FDA Guidance at 8. Thus, in its pre-NDA submission to the FDA, the brand manufacturers of the
original Wellbutrin IR had quantified a target amount per tablet of 0.5 mg of hydrochloric acid in the 50
mg formulation and 1.0 mg in the 100 mg formulation of Wellbutrin IR. Similarly, the NDA submitted for
Wellbutrin SR indicated a target amount per tablet of 16.20 mg of cysteine hydrochloride, a different kind of
acid stabilizer. The instruction to quantify the target amount of each component does not apply, however, to
“processing agents.” 2003 FDA Guidance 9. The FDA guidance does not clearly define “processing agent.”
See In re Wellbutrin XL Antitrust Litig., 2012 WL 1657734 at *9–11.

7 In November 2006, Andrx was acquired by Watson Pharmaceuticals; Watson had filed an ANDA to market
generic 150mg Wellbutrin XL. Andrx was therefore not a “non-practicing” entity incapable of getting injunctive
relief, as the plaintiffs have claimed. GSK Ex. 24.



8 The Court previously found that Biovail's citizen petition was not an independent basis for antitrust liability.
In re Wellbutrin XL Antitrust Litig., 2012 WL 1657734 (E.D.Pa. May 11, 2012).

9 Anchen was a new company and, at the time it filed its ANDA for generic Wellbutrin XL, it had never launched
or received FDA approval for a product. GSK Stmt. ¶ 21; Pls.' Stmt. Opp. ¶ 21.

10 In January 2006, Anchen had entered into an agreement with Teva and Impax whereby it allowed Teva to
market any generic 300mg Wellbutrin XL made under Anchen's ANDA. If Anchen could not manufacture
300mg generic Wellbutrin XL, then Anchen would either relinquish its 180-day exclusivity or waive that
exclusivity in favor of Impax. GSK Stmt. ¶ 23; Pls.' Stmt. Opp. ¶ 23.

Biovail had not filed an infringement action against Impax within the 45-day window provided by the Hatch-
Waxman Act, so no 30-month stay of approval applied. Pls. Ex. 803; Pls. Stmt. Opp. ¶ 9, 23.

11 The plaintiffs' assertion that there was “no regulatory block to manufacturing and selling” Anchen's generic
Wellbutrin XL is contradicted by the record. Pls. Opp'n at 11. Although the plaintiffs have argued that the
Goodyear and Jeronimo facilities were the “same facility” for FDA inspection purposes, and that Anchen
believed such a change only needed to be reported in Anchen's annual report to the FDA, both the FDA's and
Anchen's conduct suggests otherwise. It is undisputed that upon learning of the manufacturing site change,
the FDA in fact required Anchen to request, and Anchen did request, prior regulatory approval. GSK Ex. 72.

12 Biovail separately settled the Abrika litigation later. The Abrika settlement allowed for entry upon the expiration
of Anchen's 180-day exclusivity period and there was no payment made in exchange for the agreement.
Abrika received final FDA approval to market its 150mg version of generic Wellbutrin XL on August 15, 2008.
GSK Stmt. ¶ 55; Pls.' Stmt. Opp. ¶ 55.

13 Prior to GSK's direct participation, GSK and Biovail had discussed the rights GSK may waive in a settlement
and had shared draft settlement documents prior to GSK's actual involvement in settlement negotiations. For
example, in early 2006 GSK informed Biovail that it was willing to “waive certain valuable rights to facilitate
Biovail's desire to settle certain patent litigation,” including its right to market an authorized generic. On
December 16, 2006, counsel for GSK and Biovail discussed the settlement negotiations; on December 17,
2006, GSK received a draft of the settlement from Biovail for review. GSK Stmt. ¶ 56-57, 59; Pls.' Stmt. Opp.
¶ 56-57, 59.

14 The Wellbutrin Settlement also resolved the Watson litigation. The Watson settlement allowed for entry after
Anchen's 180-day exclusivity period expired. Watson had received final FDA approval to market is 150mg
version of generic Wellbutrin XL on January 31, 2007.

15 The plaintiffs argued in their opposition to GSK's motion for summary judgment that it was inappropriate for
GSK not to notify the Federal Circuit that it had reached a settlement. It is unclear, however, how this is
relevant to the antitrust question currently before the Court.

16 The Wellbutrin Settlement included seven total “triggers” for generic entry. See GSK Ex. 6 at 3.16.

17 The plaintiffs also rely on GSK and Biovail's 2007 SEC 20-F filings, which described the settlement as
“allowing generic entry for the 150mg form in 2008.” Pls. Exs. 698, 696. The filings, however, were made in
February and March of 2008, respectively, so at that point it would have been impossible for the companies
to report anything other than a 2008 generic launch.

18 Teva's antitrust counsel explained that it was Teva's “publicly stated” view at the time of the settlement that
the Hatch-Waxman Act intended that “the first filing generic would be the only generic on the market.” Holding
Dep. Tr. 73:24-74:17.



19 The plaintiffs do not offer factual support for their allegation that “suddenly, and without explanation, the '708
patent license ‘got put into’ ” the Wellbutrin Settlement. Rather, the generic manufacturers contemplated that
the Wellbutrin Settlement would resolve the Andrx litigation. See Pls. Ex. 864; GSK Ex. 64.

Further, the plaintiffs make much of the fact that Andrx and Anchen may have possibly negotiated a
settlement separate from the Wellbutrin Settlement. It is undisputed, however, that such a settlement was
never memorialized or reached.

These points serve as examples of the speculation the Court cannot consider in deciding the motions for
summary judgment.

20 Anchen told Andrx that it was planning a January 12, 2007 at risk launch of its 150mg product; Anchen said
it was using its potential launch to facilitate settlement discussions with Andrx. GSK Stmt. ¶ 45; Pls.' Stmt.
Opp. ¶ 45.

21 In an email from Teva's General Counsel to counsel for Biovail and GSK, Teva's counsel stated that “[t]he
supply commitment can't be more watered down and useless—this wasn't the intent.” Pls. Ex. 886.

22 The plaintiffs offer no factual support for their allegation that the parties to the Wellbutrin Settlement misled
the FTC. It is undisputed that the FTC was provided with the entire Wellbutrin Settlement; the plaintiffs criticize
the parties for failing to provide a “summary” of the agreements to the FTC, but it is unclear what benefit this
would have had when the agency had access to the entire agreement. The parties to the settlement also met
with both the head of and the deputy assistant director to the FTC's Health Care Division, which is specifically
tasked with reviewing Hatch-Waxman patent settlement agreements. Holding Dep. Tr. 40:19-43:2.

23 The Court approved Biovail's settlement with the plaintiff classes on November 7, 2012, leaving GSK as the
only defendant remaining in the case.

24 Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56, a party moving for summary judgment must show that there is
no genuine issue as to any material fact and that judgment is appropriate as a matter of law. Fed. R. Civ.
P. 56(a). The moving party bears the initial burden of demonstrating the absence of any genuine issue of
material fact. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986). Once a
properly supported motion for summary judgment is made, the burden shifts to the nonmoving party, who
must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.,
477 U.S. 242, 250, 106 S.Ct. 2505, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986). The mere existence of some alleged factual
dispute between the parties will not defeat an otherwise properly supported motion for summary judgment.
Id. at 247–48, 106 S.Ct. 2505.

The Court's analysis applies to both the plaintiffs' federal and state law claims except where otherwise noted.

25 In its motion for summary judgment, GSK also argued that Actavis does not apply to non-cash payments. This
argument has been foreclosed by the Third Circuit's ruling in King Drug Co. of Florence, Inc. v. Smithkline
Beecham, Corp., in which the court found that a no authorized generic agreement “falls under Actavis’s
rule because it may well represent an unusual, unexplained reverse transfer of considerable value from the
patentee to the alleged infringer and may therefore give rise to the inference that it is a payment to eliminate
the risk of competition.” 791 F.3d 388 at 393 (3d Cir.2015).

26 Because the Court has found that the Wellbutrin Settlement as a whole is not anticompetitive, it is not
necessary to address whether these settlements—which were negotiated entry date only settlements in which
no payment was made—are a basis for recovery.



27 In the event the Anchen litigation was not concluded before May 2008, or was concluded in favor of Biovail,
a trigger date provided for the market entry of generic Wellbutrin XL.

28 In their briefs and at oral argument, the plaintiffs made much of the fact that the no authorized generic
agreement may be valued at “$200 million.” GSK has not moved for summary judgment on any grounds
related to the value of the no authorized agreement, however, so the plaintiffs continued reliance on it is
misplaced.

29 The plaintiffs offer no evidence to support their speculative claim that the “only reason” the Wellbutrin
Settlement allowed the underlying patent litigation to continue was that it maintained Anchen's 180-day
exclusivity period. The plaintiffs' expert Dr. Blume merely restates the Hatch-Waxman statutory scheme,
which specifically allows a generic manufacturer to maintain its 180-day exclusivity period without launching
so long as an appeal remains pending. See 21 U.S.C. § 355j(5)(D)(i)(I)(bb)(AA).

30 The Court is not aware of any other post-Actavis reverse payment patent settlement evaluated by courts
that allowed the underlying patent litigation to continue, maintaining the risk of patent invalidity or a finding
of non-infringement.

31 Although at oral argument the plaintiffs' counsel denied that he was advocating a presumption-based analysis,
the plaintiffs' argument that they can demonstrate anticompetitive effects by showing a “large” payment and
a delay appears to be such an analysis. See Oral Arg. Tr. at 58 (“A payment that the evidence shows is for
delay that's large satisfies our first step.”)

32 The plaintiffs have relied on King Drug of Florence, Inc. v. Cephalon, Inc. to support their argument that their
required showing of anticompetitive effects is satisfied by showing a large payment. 88 F.Supp.3d 402, ––––,
2015 WL 356913 at *10 (E.D.Pa. Jan. 28, 2015)(“evidence of a large payment is required for a plaintiff to
satisfy its initial burden of demonstrating anticompetitive effects under the Actavis rule of reason analysis.”).
The court in King Drug, however, was not faced with a settlement similar to the Wellbutrin Settlement. Rather,
the court was evaluating a settlement that had ended the underlying patent litigation; the court, therefore,
was faced the Wellbutrin Settlement allowed it to continue. As Actavis explained, the elimination of the risk
of a patent litigation loss is the relevant harm in a rule of reason analysis.

33 The plaintiffs cite deposition testimony from three GSK witnesses: CEO Jean-Pierre Garnier, General
Counsel Rupert Brondy, and Vice President Jack Davis. Davis testified that “there was a delay that [Teva]
agreed to until, I believe, it was May 30th of 2008, or some earlier date, depending on some triggers which
I don't know what those are.” Davis Dep. Tr. 99:8-18. The plaintiffs failed to refer, however, to Davis's
subsequent testimony that he could not testify to the specific relationship between the no authorized generic
agreement and the negotiated trigger dates because he “wasn't involved in any of those conversations.” Id.
at 100:5-14. Similarly, Bondy testified that the fact that GSK would continue marketing 150mg Wellbutrin XL
for a period of time without generic competition was a “significant term of the agreements.” Bondy Dep. Tr.
110:15-19. Finally, Garnier testified that GSK “[sold] its exclusivity” back to Biovail to facilitate the settlement
of the underlying patent litigation. Garnier 142:16-145:3.

34 The plaintiffs also cite a March 2007 internal GSK presentation that noted that as a result of the “deal”
Teva would not market a generic Wellbutrin XL product until a “trigger date” and that GSK was barred from
launching an authorized generic during the 180-day Hatch-Waxman exclusivity period. See Pls. Ex. 971.
Although the document does address both elements of the deal, it does not present the “quid pro quo” that
the plaintiffs suggest.

35 Such a showing may, however, satisfy the plaintiffs' prima facie burden under the Cartwright Act. In re Cipro
Cases I & II, 61 Cal.4th 116, 187 Cal.Rptr.3d 632, 348 P.3d 845 (2015). As discussed below, however, the



Wellbutrin Settlement is not anticompetitive under the Court's full rule of reason analysis given the settlements
procompetitive justifications.

36 GSK has filed a Daubert motion to exclude Dr. Leitzinger's testimony regarding a rule of reason analysis
of the Wellbutrin Settlement on the grounds that Leitzinger has rested his analysis exclusively on counsel's
instructions rather than an independent analysis of the summary judgment record.

The Court can decide GSK's motion for summary judgment, however, without deciding GSK's Daubert
challenge of Dr. Leitzinger, because the Court relies on the undisputed facts in the summary judgment
record. That said, Dr. Leitzinger's analysis of the Wellbutrin Settlement's effects are unreliable under Daubert
and are excluded. Dr. Leitziner failed to analyze when and whether the generic manufacturers would have
entered the market but for the Wellbutrin Settlement. Further, Dr. Leitzinger expressly failed to evaluate
any procompetitive justifications of the Wellbutrin Settlement, making his already conclusory analysis fatally
incomplete. Dr. Leitzinger's opinion is reciting only the plaintiffs' counsels' argument that the settlement is
anticompetitive. His testimony regarding anticompetitive effects is unreliable.

37 Although the Lamictal court noted that it is not necessary at the motion to dismiss stage for the plaintiffs
to present an alternate settlement scenario in order to establish anticompetitive effects, Lamictal, 791 F.3d
at 410 (addressing the plaintiffs' burden at the motion to dismiss stage and finding that Actavis does not
“require allegations that defendants could in fact have reached another, more competitive settlement.”), it is
one mechanism through which the plaintiffs may establish anticompetitive effects at the summary judgment
stage.

38 GSK's contention that there is no evidence in the summary judgment record that it would have independently
launched an authorized generic is not persuasive as to the lack of anticompetitive effects at the summary
judgment stage. It was the promise of the no authorized generic, not only the failure of GSK to actually
launch an authorized generic, that the plaintiffs claim caused the alleged anticompetitive effects in the form of
delayed market entry for generic Wellbutrin XL. Even if the Court found that GSK had not planned to launch
an authorized generic Wellbutrin XL product, there is no dispute that GSK made the promise that it would
not do so.

39 There is no support in the summary judgment record for the plaintiffs' contention that the parties to the
Wellbutrin Settlement concealed the nature of the settlement from the FTC. Rather, there is undisputed
evidence in the summary judgment record that the parties to the settlement presented the entire settlement
agreement to the FTC and met with the agency to explain the settlement.

40 Another reason why the Court has not considered the FTC's decisions to the Wellbutrin Settlement as
evidence of either the lack of anticompetitive effects or the procompetitive nature of the settlement is that it is
unlikely that the FTC's decision itself would be admissible on these topics. The circumstances surrounding
the inclusion of the review provisions in the Wellbutrin Settlement and the submission of the settlement to the
FTC, however, would be admissible at trial on a number of bases, including intent and the fact that enhanced
FTC review had at least indirect procompetitive benefits.

41 Antitrust injury and causation are two essential elements of the doctrine of antitrust standing; the lack of
antitrust standing prevents a plaintiff from recovering from the antitrust laws. Assoc. Gen. Contractors of
Calif., Inc., v. California State Council of Carpenters, 459 U.S. 519, 103 S.Ct. 897, 74 L.Ed.2d 723 (1983);
Ethypharm S.A. France v. Abbott Labs., 707 F.3d 223, 232–33 (3d Cir.2013). If antitrust injury and causation
are lacking, the Court does not need to address the remaining factors of antirust standing.

42 The Third Circuit in Lamictal did not address the issue of antitrust injury. Lamictal, 791 F.3d at 410 n. 35 (“we
do not decide the question of antitrust injury in private actions such as this litigation...nor do we preclude the



parties from raising the issue on remand.”)(citing Ian Simmons et al., Viewing Actavis Through The Lens of
Clayton Act Section 4, Antitrust, Fall 2013, at 24). No other federal court of appeals has addressed the issue
of antitrust injury in the context of reverse payment settlements.

43 The plaintiffs have mistakenly characterized GSK's argument that the patent cuts off the chain of causation
as an “illegality defense” to antitrust claims. Courts have rejected such a defense. See Consolidated Exp.,
Inc. v. New York Shipping Ass'n, 602 F.2d 494, 525–26 (3d Cir.1979) (citing Perma Life Mufflers, Inc. v. Int'l
Parts Corp., 392 U.S. 134, 88 S.Ct. 1981, 20 L.Ed.2d 982 (1968) (finding that the unclean hands defense
was not applicable to antitrust violations)). GSK, however, is arguing that an independent regulation cut off
the chain of causation that the plaintiffs are attempting to establish. The court in Consolidated Exp., Inc. did
not address the issue of causation. It found only that the plaintiffs' violation of an unrelated law or regulation
could not serve as a complete bar to antitrust liability. Notably, this case predates the Third Circuit's decision
in City of Pittsburgh v. West Penn. Power.

44 Private plaintiffs cannot bring actions under the FTC Act.

45 The Court is not persuaded by the district court and California Supreme Court decisions that found
that causation is satisfied by showing that the defendants' actions ended the patent litigation, making it
unnecessary to consider the patent's validity. In re Cipro Cases I&II, 61 Cal.4th 116, 159, 187 Cal.Rptr.3d
632, 348 P.3d 845 (2015)(“nothing in the United States Supreme Court's discussion of the legal rules at the
boundary between antitrust and patent law hinged on the happenstance that the case under review involved
a public prosecutor.”); In re Aggrenox Antitrust Litig., No. 14–2516 2015 WL 4459607 at *9 (D.Conn. July 21,
2015). It appears to the Court that these decisions relax Section 4's causation requirement for the specific
circumstance of challenges to reverse payment settlements. Additionally, even in Actavis, a case brought
under the FTC Act, the Supreme Court said only that it is normally not necessary to litigate patent validity,
not that such litigation would never be necessary.

The Court, however, is bound by the In re Cipro Cases decision in evaluating the indirect purchaser plaintiffs'
claims under the California's Cartwright Act. Because the Court, however, has found that the Wellbutrin
Settlement is not anticompetitive under the rule of reason, this does not alter the outcome of the summary
judgment motion.

46 The plaintiffs have relied on Andrx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. v. Biovail Corp. Intl., 256 F.3d 799 (D.C.Cir.2001)
and In re Cardizem CD Antitrust Litigation, 332 F.3d 896 (6th Cir.2003), to support their argument that an at
risk launch can support antitrust injury without evidence of success on the underlying patent claim. But neither
case is persuasive in this context. Both cases were evaluating complaints at the motion to dismiss stage
under a per se analysis. Both cases also predate—and are in conflict with—the Supreme Court's decision in
Actavis (and the Third Circuit's decision in Lamictal) which control this decision.

47 The plaintiffs also challenge the reliability of Dr. Adelman's methodologies with respect to his opinions on the
Biovail litigation. These challenges go to the weight of Dr. Adelman's testimony, not its admissibility. Because
the Court finds in the plaintiffs' favor on the Biovail litigation, the plaintiffs' objections on this basis are moot.

48 Instead, they argue that Anchen/Teva would have reached a license agreement with Andrx. As discussed
above, however, no license agreement exists between the parties and there is no evidence in the summary
judgment record that an agreement would have been reached absent the Wellbutrin Settlement.

49 The plaintiffs' assertion that no law prohibited its production is counter to both FDA regulations and Anchen's
conduct in response to FDA action.



50 Despite being given the opportunity, the plaintiffs declined to ask any witness from Anchen/Teva whether an
at risk launch after June 2007 was planned. Instead, the plaintiffs chose to rely only on the documents that
do not address the issue one way or another. See Oral Arg. Tr. at 68-69.

51 Because the Court will grant summary judgment on other grounds, there is no need for the Court also to
decide this issue. But in an effort to be complete, the Court has considered all bases for summary judgment.

52 Although the defendants can argue—and have successfully argued—that the Wellbutrin Settlement is not
anticompetitive, there is no question that GSK intended to participate in the settlement negotiations.
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Footnotes

* The syllabus constitutes no part of the opinion of the Court but has been prepared by the Reporter of Decisions
for the convenience of the reader. See United States v. Detroit Timber & Lumber Co., 200 U.S. 321, 337,
26 S.Ct. 282, 50 L.Ed. 499.



1 The advisory opinions, which substantially mirror parts of the California Business and Professions Code, see
Cal. Bus. & Prof.Code Ann. §§ 651, 1680 (West 1999), include the following propositions:

“A statement or claim is false or misleading in any material respect when it:

“a. contains a misrepresentation of fact;

“b. is likely to mislead or deceive because in context it makes only a partial disclosure of relevant facts;

“c. is intended or is likely to create false or unjustified expectations of favorable results and/or costs;

“d. relates to fees for specific types of services without fully and specifically disclosing all variables and other
relevant factors;

“e. contains other representations or implications that in reasonable probability will cause an ordinarily prudent
person to misunderstand or be deceived.

“Any communication or advertisement which refers to the cost of dental services shall be exact, without
omissions, and shall make each service clearly identifiable, without the use of such phrases as ‘as low as,’
‘and up,’ ‘lowest prices,’ or words or phrases of similar import.

“Any advertisement which refers to the cost of dental services and uses words of
comparison or relativity—for example, ‘low fees'—must be based on verifiable data
substantiating the comparison or statement of relativity. The burden shall be on the dentist
who advertises in such terms to establish the accuracy of the comparison or statement
of relativity.”

“Advertising claims as to the quality of services are not susceptible to measurement or verification;
accordingly, such claims are likely to be false or misleading in any material respect.” 128 F.3d 720, 723–724
(C.A.9 1997) (some internal quotation marks omitted).

2 The disclosures include:

“1. The dollar amount of the nondiscounted fee for the service[.]

“2. Either the dollar amount of the discount fee or the percentage of the discount for the specific service[.]

“3. The length of time that the discount will be offered[.]

“4. Verifiable fees[.]

“5. [The identity of] [s]pecific groups who qualify for the discount or any other terms and conditions or
restrictions for qualifying for the discount.” Id., at 724.

3 The FTC Act's prohibition of unfair competition and deceptive acts or practices, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)(1), overlaps
the scope of § 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1, aimed at prohibiting restraint of trade, FTC v. Indiana
Federation of Dentists, 476 U.S. 447, 454–455, 106 S.Ct. 2009, 90 L.Ed.2d 445 (1986), and the Commission
relied upon Sherman Act law in adjudicating this case, In re California Dental Assn., 121 F.T.C. 190, 292,
n. 5 (1996).



4 Compare In re American Medical Assn., 94 F.T.C. 701, 983–984, aff'd, 638 F.2d 443 (C.A.2 1980), aff'd.
by an equally divided Court, 455 U.S. 676, 102 S.Ct. 1744, 71 L.Ed.2d 546 (1982) (per curiam), and FTC
v. National Comm'n on Egg Nutrition, 517 F.2d 485, 487–488 (C.A.7 1975), with Community Blood Bank v.
FTC, 405 F.2d 1011, 1017 (C.A.8 1969).

5 Cf. Bogan v. Hodgkins, 166 F.3d 509, 514, and n. 6 (C.A.2 1999); United States v. Brown University, 5 F.3d
658, 669 (C.A.3 1993); Chicago Professional Sports Limited Partnership v. National Basketball Assn., 961
F.2d 667, 674–676 (C.A.7 1992); Law v. National Collegiate Athletic Assn., 134 F.3d 1010, 1020 (C.A.10
1998); U.S. Healthcare, Inc. v. Healthsource, Inc., 986 F.2d 589, 594–595 (C.A.1 1993).

6 This conclusion is consistent with holdings by a number of Courts of Appeals. In FTC v. National Comm'n
on Egg Nutrition, the Court of Appeals held that a nonprofit association “organized for the profit of the egg
industry,” 517 F.2d, at 488, 638 F.2d 443 (C.A.2 1980), fell within the Commission's jurisdiction. In American
Medical Assn. v. FTC, 638 F.2d 443 (C.A.2 1980), the Court of Appeals held that the “business aspects,”
id., at 448, of the AMA's activities brought it within the Commission's reach. These cases are consistent
with our conclusion that an entity organized to carry on activities that will confer greater than de minimis or
presumed economic benefits on profit-seeking members certainly falls within the Commission's jurisdiction.
In Community Blood Bank v. FTC, the Court of Appeals addressed the question whether the Commission had
jurisdiction over a blood bank and an association of hospitals. It held that “the question of the jurisdiction over
the corporations or other associations involved should be determined on an ad hoc basis,” 405 F.2d, at 1018,
and that the Commission's jurisdiction extended to “any legal entity without shares of capital which engages
in business for profit within the traditional meaning of that language,” ibid. (emphasis deleted). The Court of
Appeals also said that “[a]ccording to a generally accepted definition ‘profit’ means gain from business or
investment over and above expenditures, or gain made on business or investment where both receipts or
payments are taken into account,” id., at 1017, although in the same breath it noted that the term's “meaning
must be derived from the context in which it is used,” id., at 1016. Our decision here is fully consistent with
Community Blood Bank, because the CDA contributes to the profits of at least some of its members, even on
a restrictive definition of profit as gain above expenditures. (It should go without saying that the FTC Act does
not require for Commission jurisdiction that members of an entity turn a profit on their membership, but only
that the entity be organized to carry on business for members' profit.) Nonetheless, we do not, and indeed, on
the facts here, could not, decide today whether the Commission has jurisdiction over nonprofit organizations
that do not confer profit on for-profit members but do, for example, show annual income surpluses, engage in
significant commerce, or compete in relevant markets with for-profit players. We therefore do not foreclose the
possibility that various paradigms of profit might fall within the ambit of the FTC Act. Nor do we decide whether
a purpose of contributing to profit only in a presumed sense, as by enhancing professional educational efforts,
would implicate the Commission's jurisdiction.

7 A letter from Bureau of Corporations Commissioner Joseph E. Davies to Senator Francis G. Newlands, the
bill's sponsor and a member of the Conference Committee, written August 8, 1914, before the Conference
Committee revisions, included a memorandum dated August 7, 1914, that expressed concern that the
versions of the bill passed by the House and the Senate would not extend jurisdiction to purportedly
nonprofit organizations, which might “furnish convenient vehicles for common understandings looking to
the limitation of output and the fixing of prices contrary to law.” Trade Commission Bill: Letter from the
Commissioner of Corporations to the Chairman of the Senate Comm. on Interstate Commerce, Transmitting
Certain Suggestions Relative to the Bill (H.R. 15613) to Create a Federal Trade Commission, 63d Cong.,
2d Sess., 3 (1914).

8 We leave to the Court of Appeals the question whether on remand it can effectively assess the Commission's
decision for substantial evidence on the record, or whether it must remand to the Commission for a more
extensive rule-of-reason analysis on the basis of an enhanced record.



9 That false or misleading advertising has an anticompetitive effect, as that term is customarily used, has been
long established. Cf. FTC v. Algoma Lumber Co., 291 U.S. 67, 79–80, 54 S.Ct. 315, 78 L.Ed. 655 (1934)
(finding a false advertisement to be unfair competition).

10 “The fact that a restraint operates upon a profession as distinguished from a business is, of course, relevant
in determining whether that particular restraint violates the Sherman Act. It would be unrealistic to view the
practice of professions as interchangeable with other business activities, and automatically to apply to the
professions antitrust concepts which originated in other areas. The public service aspect, and other features
of the professions, may require that a particular practice, which could properly be viewed as a violation of the
Sherman Act in another context, be treated differently.” Goldfarb v. Virginia State Bar, 421 U.S. 773, 788–
789, n. 17, 95 S.Ct. 2004, 44 L.Ed.2d 572 (1975).

11 Justice BREYER claims that “the Court of Appeals did consider the relevant differences.” Post, at 1622.
But the language he cites says nothing more than that per se analysis is inappropriate here and that “some
caution” was appropriate where restrictions purported to restrict false advertising, see 128 F.3d, at 726–
727. Caution was of course appropriate, but this statement by the Court of Appeals does not constitute a
consideration of the possible differences between these and other advertising restrictions.

12 Justice BREYER suggests that our analysis is “of limited relevance,” post, at 1623, because “the basic
question is whether this ... theoretically redeeming virtue in fact offsets the restrictions' anticompetitive effects
in this case,” ibid. He thinks that the Commission and the Court of Appeals “adequately answered that
question,” ibid., but the absence of any empirical evidence on this point indicates that the question was not
answered, merely avoided by implicit burden shifting of the kind accepted by Justice BREYER. The point is
that before a theoretical claim of anticompetitive effects can justify shifting to a defendant the burden to show
empirical evidence of procompetitive effects, as quick-look analysis in effect requires, there must be some
indication that the court making the decision has properly identified the theoretical basis for the anticompetitive
effects and considered whether the effects actually are anticompetitive. Where, as here, the circumstances
of the restriction are somewhat complex, assumption alone will not do.

13 Justice BREYER wonders if we “mea[n] this statement as an argument against the anticompetitive tendencies
that flow from an agreement not to advertise service quality.” Post, at 1622. But as the preceding sentence
shows, we intend simply to question the logic of the Court of Appeals's suggestion that the restrictions are
anticompetitive because they somehow “affect output,” 128 F.3d, at 728, presumably with the intent to raise
prices by limiting supply while demand remains constant. We do not mean to deny that an agreement not to
advertise service quality might have anticompetitive effects. We merely mean that, absent further analysis
of the kind Justice BREYER undertakes, it is not possible to conclude that the net effect of this particular
restriction is anticompetitive.

14 The Commission said only that “ ‘mere puffing’ deceives no one and has never been subject to regulation.”
121 F.T.C., at 318. The question here, of course, is not whether puffery may be subject to governmental
regulation, but whether a professional organization may ban it.

15 Other commentators have expressed similar views. See, e.g., Kolasky, Counterpoint: The Department of
Justice's “Stepwise” Approach Imposes Too Heavy a Burden on Parties to Horizontal Agreements, Antitrust
41, 43 (spring 1998) (“[I]n applying the rule of reason, the courts, as with any balancing test, use a sliding scale
to determine how much proof to require”); Piraino, Making Sense of the Rule of Reason: A New Standard for
Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 47 Vand. L.Rev. 1753, 1771 (1994) ( “[C]ourts will have to undertake varying
degrees of inquiry depending upon the type of restraint at issue. The legality of certain restraints will be easy
to determine because their competitive effects are obvious. Other restrictions will require a more detailed
analysis because their competitive impact is more ambiguous”). But see Klein, A “Stepwise” Approach for
Analyzing Horizontal Agreements Will Provide a Much Needed Structure for Antitrust Review, Antitrust 41,



42 (spring 1990) (examination of procompetitive justifications “is by no means a full scrutiny of the proffered
efficiency justification. It is, rather, a hard look at the justification to determine if it meets the defendant's
burden of coming forward with—but not establishing—a valid efficiency justification”).

End of Document © 2022 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.


